
 DISTRICT COURT, LA PLATA COUNTY, COLORADO 

1060 East 2nd Avenue, Room 106 

Durango, Colorado 81301 

 

CJ’S DINER, INC., a Colorado Corporation, JERRY 

MARTINEZ, and CARRIE MARTINEZ,  

Plaintiffs,  

 

v. 

 

JARED POLIS, in his official capacity as Governor of the State 

of Colorado, the COLORADO DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC 

HEALTH AND ENVIRONMENT, JILL HUNSAKER RYAN, 

in only her official capacity as Executive Director of the 

Colorado Department of Public Health and Environment, SAN 

JUAN BASIN PUBLIC HEALTH, and LIANE JOLLON, in only 

her capacity as Executive Director of San Juan Basin Public 

Health,  

Defendants. 

*COURT USE ONLY* 

 

Case No. 2021 CV 30006 

Div.: 2 

CONSOLIDATED ORDER GRANTING JOINT MOTIONS TO DISMISS UNDER 

C.R.C.P. 12(b)(1) AND 12(b)(5) 

 

Defendants Jared Polis, Colorado Department of Public Health and Environment, Jill 

Hunsaker Ryan (collectively “State Defendants”), and San Juan Basin Public Health and Liane 

Jollon (collectively “SJBPH Defendants”) filed separate motions seeking dismissal of Plaintiffs’ 

CJ’s Diner, Inc., Jerry Martinez, and Carrie Martinez complaint.  Having reviewed the motions, 

the responsive pleadings, the complaint, and the supporting documents, the Court issues this 

consolidated order granting the motions to dismiss, finding and ordering as follows: 

The Plaintiffs filed a 93-page complaint with nine claims seeking various forms of relief 

from the Court, including declaratory relief, injunctive relief, and attorney fees.  Plaintiff CJ’s 

Diner, Inc., is a Colorado corporation that operates as a restaurant in Durango, Colorado, and is 

located within La Plata County.  Plaintiffs Jerry and Carrie Martinez (collectively “Martinezes”) 
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own the corporation and operate the restaurant.  The core of this case is constitutionality of the 

Colorado Disaster Emergency Act (“CDEA”), C.R.S. §24-33.5-701, et seq., and the legality of 

certain orders that impacted the ability of the Plaintiffs to provide in-person dining at their 

restaurant.  The Plaintiffs were previously prohibited from serving customers inside their 

restaurant based upon Executive Orders (“EOs”) issued by Defendant Polis and Public Health 

Orders (“PHOs”) issued by SJBPH.  All of these orders have expired and there are no current 

pandemic related public health restrictions at issue, or proposed restrictions, that impact the 

operation of the Plaintiffs’ restaurant.  

Jurisdiction 

Mootness  

As there are no longer any restrictions in effect, the Defendants have jointly moved for 

dismissal of all of the Plaintiffs’ claims pursuant to C.R.C.P. 12(b)(1).  The Defendants assert 

that the Plaintiffs’ claims are now moot and the Court no longer has jurisdiction to adjudicate the 

claims.  The Plaintiffs do not dispute the fact that the restrictions have expired but ask the Court 

to find that they should be permitted to proceed based upon two well-established exceptions to 

mootness: “capable of repetition, but evading review” and “question of great public importance.”  

Humphrey v. Sw. Dev. Co., 734 P.2d 637, 639 (Colo. 1987).  

The Defendants respond that the circumstances are unique and unlikely to reoccur in the 

future.  Further, they argue that the amount of time that the Plaintiffs delayed before bringing this 

action belies the claim that challenges to future EOs and PHOs could not be mounted before the 

orders would expire or be withdrawn. 
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The Court agrees with the Defendants that the specific EOs and PHOs are unlikely to 

reoccur.  The EOs and PHOs challenged in this matter were issued in response to a unique threat, 

i.e., a potentially lethal novel coronavirus that caused a global pandemic.  The orders were based 

upon an evolving understanding of what measures might mitigate the impact the pandemic 

would have on public health. The EOs and PHOs were crafted to minimize the spread of the 

virus, prevent medical resources from being overwhelmed, and ensure that critical economic 

activity could continue.  The Plaintiffs cannot point to similar orders having issued in the past 

and do not offer any credible scenario under which such orders would issue in the future.   

Notwithstanding the fact that similar orders are unlikely to be promulgated in the future, 

it is reasonable to forecast that the Governor, CDPHE, and SJBPH will issue EOs and PHOs at 

some time in the future under the Colorado Disaster Emergency Act under different 

circumstances.  While these orders may not be substantially similar to the orders issued in 

response to the SARS-COV-2 pandemic, they would issue pursuant to the same statutory 

authority and likely be executed in a similar manner to the EOs and PHOs challenged in this 

case.  As is the case with the current EOs, these orders would have “the force and effect of law.”  

C.R.S. §24-33.5-704 and §25-1-114.  The Court is of the view that the question of whether the 

Governor, CDPHE, and SJBPH have the statutory and constitutional authority to issue such 

orders is a “question of great public importance” and that the Court should not decline to rule on 

the issue merely because the specific orders are no longer in effect.  

 Pursuant to C.R.C.P. 12(b)(1), the Court finds that the Plaintiffs’ challenges to individual 

orders and their “as applied” constitutional challenges to the CDEA are moot and dismisses those 
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claims.  The Court will address the remaining claims bringing facial constitutional challenges 

under the C.R.C.P. 12(b)(5) framework.   

 

Standard of Review 

The Plaintiffs assert that as the statutes and orders implicate fundamental constitutional 

rights, they must be reviewed under a strict scrutiny standard.  The State and SJBPH Defendants 

assert that the “rational basis” standard articulated in Jacobson v. Massachusetts, 197 U.S. 11, 26 

(1905), applies.  The Court agrees with the State and SJBPH Defendants.  While recent United 

States Supreme Court decisions have limited the scope of Jacobson, or otherwise found that 

strict scrutiny applies with regard to pandemic restrictions, that narrowing has been constrained 

to circumstances involving the free exercise of religion.  See, Roman Catholic Diocese of 

Brooklyn v. Cuomo, ___ U.S.___, 141 S.Ct. 63 (2020), Tandon v. Newsom, ___ U.S. ___, 141 

S.Ct. 1294 (2021).  While there has been some disagreement in the lower courts regarding the 

viability of Jacobson, this Court agrees with the courts that have held that absent a clear 

statement from the United States Supreme Court overruling Jacobson, it remains binding 

precedent and this Court is obligated to reconcile the recent pronouncements from the Supreme 

Court with Jacobson.  See, Hopkins Hawley, LLC v. Cuomo, 518 F. Supp. 3d 705, 712 (S.D.N.Y. 

2021) (discussing the continued validity of Jacobson  and concluding that it “provides a 

workable framework that balances the delicate considerations at play—responding to the 

COVID-19 crisis versus maintaining Constitutional liberties”).  
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Claimed Procedural and Standing Issues 

Administrative Exhaustion 

The SJBPH Defendants assert that the Plaintiffs are required to go through the 

administrative appeal process and that until they exhaust their administrative remedies, they may 

not seek relief in the courts.  As the remaining claims are limited to the question of whether the 

CDEA is constitutional, the Court agrees with the Plaintiffs that they are not required to exhaust 

their administrative remedies prior to initiating this legal action.  Horrell v. Dep't of Admin., 861 

P.2d 1194, 1197 (Colo. 1993). 

Standing of Plaintiffs Jerry and Carrie Martinez 

SJBPH asserts that Plaintiffs Martinez do not have standing as to the Cease and Desist 

Order (“C&D Order”) as the order was issued against CJ’s Diner, a corporation.  In response, the 

Martinezes allege “unjust injury to their fundamental rights, liberty interest, and property 

rights…”  The State Defendants do not make a similar challenge to the Martinezes standing.  As 

the Court will only be addressing the facial challenges to the CDEA, the issue of the Martinezes’ 

standing with respect to the C&D Order is moot and will not be addressed in this order.  

Waiver of Claims 

SJBPH asserts that CJ’s waived its claims by agreeing to comply with the C&D Order.  

The Court disagrees.  CJ’s agreement to comply with the preliminary injunction did not forfeit its 

right to contest the legality of the order on the merits.  The fact that the orders were withdrawn 

before a hearing on the merits could be held does not bar CJ’s from challenging the legality of 

the orders or the constitutionality of the CDEA in this proceeding.  
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Analysis of Individual Claims 

Judicial Review Under the Administrative Procedure Act (“APA”) (Claim 1) 

The State and SJBPH Defendants move for dismissal of this claim asserting that EOs and 

PHOs are not subject to review under the APA.  Citing Romer v. Bd. of Cty. Comm'rs of Cty. of 

Pueblo, Colo., 956 P.2d 566, 576 (Colo. 1998), as modified on denial of reh'g (Apr. 27, 1998). 

The Defendants argue that the legislature did not specifically include an APA review of orders 

issued pursuant to the authority granted to the Governor under the CDEA.  The Plaintiffs respond 

that the APA is a gap-filler in respect to review of state agency actions and applies whenever a 

review process is otherwise absent.  Additionally, the Plaintiffs argue that without an APA 

review, the CDEA fails to provide due process regarding the Executive’s exercise of its authority 

to issue orders that have the force and effect of law.  Lastly, the Plaintiffs assert there are 

unresolved issues of fact and law that preclude early dismissal. 

The Plaintiffs’ complaint makes a general allegation that statutes and orders do “not 

comply with the requirements of the Colorado Constitution” and that the orders were issued 

“without any other legally sufficient authority.”  From what the Court can discern, these 

allegations overlap with the individual claims relating to the separation of powers, non-

delegation, etc.  Complaint ¶¶ 232-236 and claims 2-6.  The Court agrees with the State 

Defendants that the only particularized challenge in claim 1 is the question of whether the 

procedures of the Administrative Procedure Act were required to be followed before the orders 

could issue.  The other claims will be addressed separately in this order.  The due process claim 

is more properly addressed as part of the distribution of powers/non-delegation challenge 

brought in the Plaintiffs’ second claim as that involves an analysis of statutory standards and 
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safeguards and administrative standards and safeguards which are responsive to the requirements 

of due process.  

As the Court has dismissed the Plaintiffs’ as-applied challenges, this order will not 

address the legality of the individual orders, but instead limits its review to the question of 

whether orders issued pursuant to the Governor’s authority under the CDEA are required to 

undergo APA review before they are implemented. 

As part of their response, the Plaintiffs make various assertions regarding constitutional 

and procedural rights, but they fail to directly address the Defendants’ argument that the absence 

of an affirmative statutory grant requiring review under the APA exempts orders issued under the 

CDEA from APA review.  The Plaintiffs’ argument that in the absence of a statutory review 

process, the APA applies to rulemaking actions by state agencies is a correct statement of the law 

but is unavailing because the CDEA has a separate mechanism for review, specifically the power 

of the General Assembly by joint resolution to end the declaration of emergency at any time and 

nullify all EOs and PHOs issued pursuant to such a declaration. C.R.S. §24-33.5-704(4).  The 

Court will address whether review by the legislature is constitutionally sufficient in the section of 

this order that discusses the Plaintiffs’ second claim.  

Additionally, orders issued under the CDEA are not administrative in nature.  The 

Governor is the head of the executive branch of state government, he is not a state agency and 

his actions are not properly classified as “rule-making” or administrative.  The CDEA empowers 

the Governor to issue orders during a disaster or emergency to mitigate an ongoing situation. 

These orders are specifically authorized by the CDEA and cannot be properly classified as 

“administrative.”  The Governor has no power under the CDEA to issue orders regarding how a 
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potential future emergency should be managed.  CDPHE is a state agency that regularly engages 

in rulemaking, but in this instance, it is charged with implementing the Governor’s orders issued 

pursuant to the CDEA and it is acting as an agent of the executive and not as a state agency 

implementing or enforcing regulatory rules.  Similarly, SJBPH is also acting, on a local level, 

pursuant to the authority granted to the Governor under the CDEA.  SJBPH is not making or 

enforcing any rules or regulations but is instead enforcing orders promulgated by the executive.  

The Court finds the New Mexico Supreme Court’s reasoning regarding the distinction 

between rules and orders to be persuasive.  Grisham v. Romero, 2021-NMSC-009, ¶ 33, 483 

P.3d 545, 558.  A rule is meant to guide future conduct, while an order is meant to address a 

present circumstance.  Id.  The EOs issued by the Governor are targeted at addressing the 

ongoing pandemic, a present emergency circumstance requiring immediate action by the 

executive that will be implemented by state and local agencies.  The EOs are orders, not rules, 

and are not subject to APA review.  

The Court agrees with the State and SJBPH Defendants that given the lack of an express 

grant of authority permitting review of the EOs or the PHO under the APA, the State and SJBPH 

Defendants were not required to comply with the rulemaking procedures outlined in the APA.  

The Court dismisses the Plaintiffs’ first claim.  

 

Violation of Distribution of Powers/Non-Delegation (Claim 2) 

The gravamen of this claim is that the CDEA is unconstitutional because it essentially 

empowers the Governor to legislate.  The viability of this claim turns on whether the CDEA has 

sufficient combined statutory and administrative safeguards to protect against an uncontrolled 
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exercise of discretionary power.  Cottrell v City & Cnty. of Denver, 636 P.2d 703, 709 (Colo. 

1981).  The Plaintiffs’ complaint makes a general allegation that the CDEA lacks sufficient 

safeguards but does not specify how or why this is the case.  The Plaintiffs’ response to the 

motion to dismiss primarily concentrates on rebutting the authorities cited by the Defendants but 

offers no persuasive authority beyond generalized constitutional principles and hyperbolic 

language.  The Plaintiffs’ response does argue that review by the legislature is an inadequate 

safeguard as it depends upon “political vagaries” which may not afford relief even in the face of 

an abuse of power by the executive.  No authority is cited to support this assertion.  

The State Defendants argue that the statute contains numerous limitations on the 

authority of the executive and that power is sufficiently constrained to pass constitutional muster.  

These standards and safeguards include there must be a declared disaster and that the orders are 

limited to control of access, movement, and occupancy.  Additionally, the orders are only 

applicable within the geographic boundaries of the disaster.  There is a specific provision of the 

CDEA that sets forth the purposes and limitations of the act, including that the Governor may not 

interfere in labor disputes, restrict the dissemination of news, curtail the jurisdiction of police, or 

firefighting.  C.R.S. §24-33.5-702.  The legislature has also provided definitions within the act, 

including a definition for what constitutes a disaster (which includes epidemics).  C.R.S. §24-

33.5-703(3).  As noted above, the legislature can terminate the executive’s disaster declaration at 

any time, which would immediately nullify all EOs and PHOs issued pursuant to the CDEA.  

Lastly, the declaration of an emergency is limited to a 30-day period and must be renewed by the 

Governor for any EOs issued pursuant to the CDEA to remain in effect. C.R.S.  §24-33.5-704(4).  
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When considered in combination, the statutory safeguards appropriately protect against 

an uncontrolled exercise of executive power.  The legislature has created a defined scope of what 

qualifies as a disaster, they have limited the types of actions the Governor can take to address the 

disaster, they have required that the disaster be limited to the geographic area affected, they have 

required the Governor to take affirmative action to extend the declaration beyond 30 days, and 

they have specified certain areas in which the Governor will not have jurisdiction to act.  Should 

an affected resident of Colorado believe the Governor has acted in excess of his or her statutory 

powers or in an unconstitutional manner, they could, of course, bring an action for declaratory 

judgment and seek an injunction if appropriate.  Lastly, the legislature can at any time and for 

any reason terminate the declaration of emergency and void all EOs and attendant PHOs.  

The Court is also of the opinion that review of the statute and the powers granted to the 

executive should be placed within the context of issues it was drafted to address.  The CDEA has 

extensive language setting forth the purpose of the act and clearly conveys the intention of the 

legislature to provide for the protection of the public.  C.R.S. §24-33.5-702(1)(a)-(h).  The 

powers granted to the executive pursuant to the CDEA are for the purpose of protecting the 

health and safety of the public in time critical emergency circumstances.  The orders may not be 

issued prior to the existence of a qualifying disaster or emergency and may not persist after the 

disaster or emergency has passed.  It is entirely reasonable for the legislature to grant broad, but 

not unconstrained, powers to the Governor to address such circumstances.  Requiring legislative 

action or an administrative review process prior to orders becoming effective would hamstring 

the ability of public health and safety authorities to respond to existing dangers and the 

immediate needs of the populace.  It should be within the province of the legislature to delegate 
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flexible powers to the executive when the exact nature and scope of the emergency or disaster 

cannot reasonably be anticipated.  Given the need for immediate responsive action by the 

executive during an emergency or disaster, the limited circumstances under which such orders 

can issue, the constrained scope of activity the executive can restrict through the EOs and the 

legislature’s power to nullify the disaster declaration, the legislature has properly balanced the 

executive’s authority under the CDEA with procedural and statutory safeguards.  

There are multiple and clear limitations on the Governor’s authority to issue executive 

orders under the CDEA.  The CDEA does not allow for the exercise of unbridled executive 

power and does not violate the distribution of powers or the non-delegation clauses of the 

Colorado Constitution.1 

 

Violation of Due Process (Claim 3)  

This claim does not articulate how the CDEA violates due process.  The Plaintiffs’ 

response to the motion to dismiss focuses on the actions of the Defendants and not the operation 

of the statute.  Even using the Plaintiffs’ response to the motion to dismiss for guidance, the 

Court cannot discern a facial due process challenge to the CDEA from the complaint.  The 

Plaintiffs complain that they were not given notice and an opportunity to be heard prior to the 

issuance of the EOs, but they do not cite any case law or other authority to support a claim that 

                                                
1 In the motion to dismiss, the State Defendants discuss at some length the statutory authority of CDPHE under Title 25, Article 1.5, but the 

allegations in the Plaintiff’s complaint are limited to Title 24, Article 33.5 and do not make a facial challenge to the powers and duties granted 
to CDPHE under §25-1.5-101, et seq.  Additionally, the powers and duties of CDPHE under Title 25, Article 1.5 are not listed as part of the 
“Target Statutes” that the Plaintiffs seek to challenge.  The Court is of the opinion that a general allegation that the PHOs are facially 
unconstitutional without citation to the statute or an articulation of how the statute violates constitutional requirements is insufficient to put 
the question of the constitutionality of powers and duties of CDPHE under Title 25, Article 1.5 at issue.  This is true not just for Claim 2, but for 
all of the Plaintiffs’ remaining claims. 
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notice and opportunity to be heard must be provided before the Governor can issue executive 

orders pursuant to a legislative grant of authority.   

Having ruled that the as-applied challenges are moot, the Court finds that Claim 3 fails to 

state a claim upon which relief can be granted and dismisses the claim.  

 

Equal Protection (Claim 4) 

Similar to Claim 3, this claim does not set forth a clear facial challenge to the CDEA.  

The complaint states that the “Target Statutes” are facially unconstitutional (¶252 Complaint), 

but all of the allegations within this claim relate to as-applied challenges, such as the fact that the 

EOs and PHOs allowed restaurants in airports or other businesses that are alleged to be similarly 

situated to remain open.  The complaint does not make an argument that these classifications are 

a result of the statutory structure of the CDEA, but rather it asserts that the orders 

unconstitutionally give preferential treatment to businesses that are similarly situated to CJ’s 

Diner.   This is not an inevitable result based upon the way the statute is drafted, but instead 

arises from discretionary decisions made by the executive branch in crafting the EOs and PHOs.  

As there is no actual facial challenge to the statute, this claim is moot and is dismissed.  

 

EOs and PHOs Violate Colorado Constitution Article II, Sections 3, 4, 10, & 25 

(Claim 5) 

This claim does not make any facial challenge to the CDEA, but rather asserts that the 

EOs and PHOs violate various sections of Article II of the Colorado Constitution.  These subject 

orders are no longer in effect making this claim moot.  This claim is dismissed.  
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EOs and PHOs Violate Colorado Constitution Article II, Section 15 (Claim 6) 

The Plaintiffs challenge the EOs and PHOs as being in violation of Article II, Section 15 

of the Colorado Constitution (takings clause).  The claim is not brought as an inverse 

condemnation claim and the prayer for relief does not seek an award of damages for the alleged 

taking.  The claim is based only on the transitory restrictions placed on the operation of CJ’s 

Diner while the EOs and PHOs were in effect.  There is no facial challenge to the CDEA made in 

this claim.  As the violations alleged in the claim are no longer in effect, the claim is moot and is 

dismissed.  

 

Declaratory Relief (Claim 7) 

This claim is resolved by the Court’s ruling that the CDEA is constitutional and the 

finding that the various claims made with regard to the EOs and PHOs are moot.  

 

Injunctive Relief (Claim 8) 

As none of the EOs or PHOs remain in effect and there is no immediate threat that 

similar restrictions will issue, there are no grounds for injunctive relief.  This claim is moot and 

is dismissed.  

 

Attorney Fees Pursuant to 42 U.S.C. §1983 (Claim 9) 

Defendants move for dismissal of this claim as 42 U.S.C. §1983 claims may not be 

premised on an alleged violation of rights granted under state law.  The Plaintiffs do not offer a 

substantive response, but instead assert that whether such claims can be brought in state court is 
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an “issue of first impression.”  The Plaintiffs also inaccurately argue that they have “segregated” 

their federal claims, when, in fact, they do not cite to any portion of the United States 

Constitution in the claim and throughout the claim refer to the alleged violations of the Colorado 

Constitution “as previously set forth” in the complaint.  As noted by the Defendants, the 

Plaintiffs assert earlier in their complaint that federal claims are “reserved” and additionally the 

Plaintiffs state that “[r]eferences in this Complaint (and all other pleadings of Plaintiffs) to the 

United States Constitution and U.S. Constitutional jurisprudence are to place in proper context 

the Colorado Constitution and state laws upon which Plaintiffs rely.”  The only reasonable 

interpretation of this statement is that the Plaintiffs are not seeking relief under Federal law.  At 

no point within the claim or the complaint as a whole do the Plaintiffs articulate a specific 

violation of federal law.  In the face of the Defendants’ challenge, the Plaintiffs have not sought 

to amend their complaint so that it sets forth a well-pled 42 U.S.C. §1983 claim.  Claim 9 fails to 

state a claim upon which relief can be granted and is dismissed.  

Conclusion 

All of the Plaintiffs’ claims are either moot or fail to state a claim upon which relief can 

be granted.  The motions to dismiss are granted. 

DATED: February 25, 2022    BY THE COURT 

 

     /s/ William L. Herringer 

      District Court Judge  


